FILED

12/23/2022 Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 22-0257

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA Supreme Court Cause No. 22-0257

CHARLES SPRAGUE, by and through Paulette Sprague, and PAULETTE SPRAGUE,

Plaintiffs, Counterclaim Defendants, and Appellees,

v.

TIM BEARD,

Defendant, Counterclaim Plaintiff, and Appellant.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court, Lewis and Clark County, The Honorable Michael McMahon Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Mark Lancaster Element Law Group, PLLC PO Box 1144 Helena, MT 59624-1144 Phone: (406) 513-1075 mark@elementlawgroup.com

ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellant Tim Beard ("Tim") appeals certain errors in the final dispositive orders entered by the District Court after a bench trial in this matter. In the proceedings that led to those orders Tim opposed Plaintiffs and Appellees Charles Sprague ("Charles") and Paulette Sprague ("Paulette" and collectively with Charles the "Spragues"). These errors justify reversal and a remand to the District Court for further consideration. Tim raises the following issues on appeal:

- Did the District Court err in concluding that Tim had permission from the Spragues to use a segment of roadway over which he claimed a prescriptive easement, despite a judicial admission by Charles that "Tim Beard has never been given permission to cross my property past the 'first turnoff'"?
- 2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in granting an injunction against Tim that is excessively restrictive and not rationally related to the evidence presented at trial?
- 3. Did the District Court err in concluding that Tim had trespass liability to Paulette, and if so, were damages calculated correctly?
- 4. Did the District Court abuse its discretion in not awarding a mandatory statutory award of attorney fees for Tim having rebutted a claim of justifiable use of force to prevail on a civil assault claim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a civil tort and declaratory judgment lawsuit tried by bench trial, resulting in findings of fact and conclusions of law, and a subsequent judgment.

Sprague initially filed suit against Tim seeking injunctive, declaratory, and compensatory relief in tort based on a trespass theory, and punitive damages. Dkt. 1¹, ¶¶ 14-36, pp. 2-5. Tim filed a counterclaim, later amended, seeking declaratory judgment regarding his own access easement rights, and a civil assault claim against Charles. Dkt. 24, ¶¶ 28-37 and 52-55, pp. 9-12. Certain additional causes of action/legal theories were stated in Tim's amended pleading, but those were withdrawn prior to trial, as noted below.

Charles died on January 29, 2021, with Paulette subsequently being substituted into his interest, by way of an order that also ruled on several motions pending at that time. Dkt. 95, p. 11. That order recognized as moot an easement by necessity claim filed by Tim, dismissed certain of his other claims without objection, and denied a motion for summary judgment on all other counts.

This Court held a final pretrial conference on November 9, 2021. At that conference the Court made it clear that the parties were not to make arguments at

¹ Pursuant to the "intelligible abbreviation" convention allowed by Mont. R. App. P. 12(9), in this brief "Dkt." refers to the serial numbering system employed by the Clerk of District Court in tracking filings in a District Court docket, as discussed in Mont. R. App. P. 8(1).

trial, but were only to make trial arguments by the lodging of proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Hrg. Transcr. 13:7-20, Nov. 9. 2021. After that conference, the Court issued a final pretrial order. Dkt. 98. The parties both filed proposed pretrial findings and conclusions (Paulette's at Dkt. 106, Tim's at Dkt. 102).

This matter was tried by bench trial over two days, February 22 and 24, 2022, with both sides completing their cases in chief, after which the case was taken under advisement. Both parties were allowed to present post-trial findings and conclusions, which the parties both did on March 18, 2022 (Paulette's at Dkt. 115 and Tim's at Dkt. 116). Paulette further amended her proposed findings and conclusions on March 30, 2022. Dkt. 118.

On that same date, March 30, 2022, the District Court issued written findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dkt. 119. In so doing, the Court reiterated that the parties had made arguments through the presentation of proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dkt. 199, p. 10. The District Court subsequently filed a judgment on April 13, 2022. Dkt. 121. On April 27, 2022, the Court issued a minor correction to its findings of fact and conclusions of law, in the form of a "Court Errata" clarifying one fact. Dkt. 122. This appeal followed.

FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Paulette and Tim are neighboring landowners on the Browns Gulch Road, north of Helena, Montana. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 1-4, p. 11-12.

The roadway segments of the Browns Gulch Road at issue here, heading generally downhill from north to south and generally downhill, follow the lowest points of a drainage called Browns Gulch. Dkt. 119, p. 9; Dkt. 122, amended finding of fact ¶ 188, amended p. 40. The Browns Gulch Road, as it proceeds downhill from its point of divergence from a road known as the Ward Road (identified and defined at Dkt. 119, p. 10), crosses real property administered by the federal Bureau of Land Management (the "BLM"). Dkt. 119, finding of fact ¶ 25, p. 15). From there it crosses property owned by Paulette (the "Sprague Property"), following the bottom of the natural drainage of the land. Dkt. 122, amended findings of fact ¶¶ 188-191, amended p. 40.

A parcel of real property owned by Tim (the "Beard Property") is adjacent to the Sprague Property, generally to the east. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 2-3, pp. 11-12.

South of the Sprague Property, the Browns Gulch Road crosses and accesses the property of certain non-party property owners, with a parcel owned by family with the surname Hopler (the "Hopler Property") and a parcel owned by a woman with the surname Watt (the "Watt Property). Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 25, p. 15.

The Hopler Property and Watt Property are dominant tenements to a granted express easement over the segment of the Browns Gulch Road crossing the Sprague Property. Dkt 119, findings of fact ¶ 84, p. 25; Trial Ex. H (offered and admitted into evidence per Tr. Transcr. 332:6-14, Feb. 22, 2022).

Tim, since at least the 1990s has done road maintenance work in the area of the Browns Gulch Road. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 90, p. 25. Tim initially did so with one or more members of the Hopler family, and then eventually on his own. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 102, p. 27. Sometimes his work was wholly gratuitous and sometimes he received cash from the Hopler family as a manner of thanks and to offset his costs. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 175, p. 38.

The layouts of the Beard and Sprague Properties are best shown on Trial Exhibit 1, which is a labeled aerial photograph with colored roadways, referenced by several witnesses (offered and admitted into evidence at Tr. Transcr. 19:2-7, Feb. 22, 2022). Notable on that exhibit is the Browns Gulch Road, as well as a deviation from it marked in blue that then proceeds east on to the Beard Property known as the "fishhook" at trial. (Dkt. 119, p. 10).

Tim historically used two roadways to access the Brown Gulch Road, the principal roadway being at the northmost point of his property, crossing a small area of the Sprague Property, and then proceeding across BLM land on to the other roads of Montana. Tr. Transcr. 324:22-325:4, Feb. 22, 2022. His second road, the

fishhook, leaves his property on its western boundary with the Sprague Property, onto the Browns Gulch Road, and generally allowing access to the Watt Property and the Hopler Property, and beyond it more BLM land and the Missouri River. Tr. Transcr. 366:20-367:11, Feb. 24, 2022.

In 2010 a wildland fire burned through the area and created significant erosion on the Browns Gulch Road. Dkt 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 76-77, pp. 23-24. Tim spent several years from that point repairing that erosion damage on the Browns Gulch Road, in segments, with the final segment to be repaired being the segment over the Sprague Property. Tr. Transcr. 359:25-361:20; 423:19-424:13, Feb. 24, 2022.

Tim is disabled, having suffered an acute injury from an automobile accident in 2010 that gives him both speech and memory problems, particularly with "dates and names." Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 89, p. 25; Tr. Transcr. 305:24-307:14, Feb. 22, 2022. As the Court noted at one point during trial, Tim has "a tremendous problem with his memory." Tr. Transcr. 463:22 -25, Feb. 24. 2022.

At some point Tim and Charles went from having an amicable relationship to a contentious one. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 120, p. 30. On several instances after that point, Charles discharged firearms at or into the Beard Property. Tr. Transcr. 405:16-409:9, Feb. 24, 2022; Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 158, p. 36. On three instances, two in September of 2019, and one in July of 2020, Tim pushed or dumped piles of rock and other material into areas of the Browns Gulch Road that crosses the Sprague Property. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 193, p. 41. The intent and consequence of him doing so were litigated in detail in this case, as discussed herein.

On July 13, 2020, at the time when Tim placed the third above-referenced pile of rock and other material in the Browns Gulch Road on the Sprague Property, Charles confronted Tim with a firearm, attempting to trap Tim on the Sprague Property, and then trespassed onto Tim's property when Tim tried to escape the confrontation. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 223, p. 46. As a result of Charles' actions, Tim had a well-founded fear for his life. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 226, p. 46.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of fact are reviewed for clear error. *Simpkins v. Speck*, 2019 MT 120, ¶ 7, 395 Mont. 509, 443 P.3d 428. A finding of fact is clearly erroneous if it is not supported by substantial evidence, if the District Court at trial misapprehended the effect of the evidence, or if our review of the record convinces the Supreme Court that a mistake has been committed. *Id*.

Conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *Lyndes v. Green*, 2014 MT 110, ¶ 14, 374 Mont. 510, 325 P.3d 1225.

A permanent injunction order is reviewed to determine whether a manifest abuse of discretion occurred. *Simpkins*, \P 8. A manifest abuse of discretion is one that is obvious, evident, or unmistakable. *Bitterrooters for Planning v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs*, 2008 MT 249, \P 12, 344 Mont. 529, 189 P.3d 624.

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

A district court abuses its discretion when it acts arbitrarily without conscientious judgment, or it exceeds the bounds of reason. If a district court abuses its discretion in an evidentiary ruling, the Supreme Court must then determine whether the demonstrated abuse of discretion constitutes a reversible error. Reversible error occurs where the impact of [the evidentiary issue] is conceivably outcome-determinative, and there is a reasonable possibility the [...] evidence might have contributed to the [outcome].

Masters Grp. Int'l, Inc. v. Comerica Bank, 2015 MT 192, ¶ 35, 380 Mont. 1, 352

P.3d 1101 (internal citations and quotations omitted).

This Court reviews a District Court's determinations regarding judicial

admissions for an abuse of discretion particularly based on the specific facts and

circumstances in a case, with that discretion being "not unlimited." Bilesky v.

Shopko Stores Operating Co., LLC, 2014 MT 300, ¶¶ 10 and 14, 377 Mont. 58,

338 P.3d 76.

Whether a statement constitutes a judicial admission depends upon the circumstances of each case. Whether a statement is one of fact or law, for the purpose of determining if the statement should be considered a judicial admission, is a question of law we review for correctness.

Id., \P 10 (internal citations omitted).

Attorney fees awards are reviewed for abuse of discretion. *In re Szafryk*, 2010 MT 90, ¶ 19, 356 Mont. 141, 146, 232 P.3d 361, 365. A district court abuses its discretion if its fee award is based on an inaccurate view of the law or if a finding of fact is clearly erroneous. *Sletteland v. Roberts*, 2003 MT 17, ¶ 9, 314 Mont. 76, 64 P.3d 979. If an award of fees is mandated by statute, it is an abuse of discretion not to award them. *Glaspey v. Workman*, 234 Mont. 374, 377, 763 P.2d 666, 668 (1988).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court erred in four key respects, each of which separately calls for reversal and remand for subsequent proceedings.

The District Court engaged in clear error in finding that Tim did not have a prescriptive easement over the Browns Gulch Road on the basis that Charles has impliedly given him permission to travel that road. The District Court, in reaching this finding, had to choose between several conflicting and confused statements made by Tim (a man with a clearly disabling cognitive injury) on that issue, coming to the wrong ultimate finding. More to the point, the District Court also ignored a judicial admission by Charles in the form of a filed statement under oath confirming that Tim "never" had permission to use the road segment at issue.

The District Court abused its discretion in issuing a permanent injunction with the specific terms ordered here, particularly with time limitations in which Tim can perform road work each year that are not founded in the evidence. While Tim does not oppose a permanent injunction with clear terms that articulate rules regarding work he might do, it is necessary to remand this matter for reconsideration of an injunction that better fits the facts, historical context, and needs of the people affected by it.

The District Court engaged in clear error in concluding that Tim had trespass liability, in the form of roadway obstructions, by failing to impartially review the evidence. In particular, the District Court erroneously relied on the testimony of a witness, Leslie Fischer ("Leslie"), who was caught improperly reading documentation not in evidence during her direct examination and then tainted her credibility by lying about whether she had been doing so. Separately, when Tim attempted to answer a few questions material to his defense, particularly an openended cross examination question regarding delay in removing instructions, the District Court improperly cut off and struck his responsive and explanatory testimony. As a result, the District Court confused the facts of how Tim moved some roadway materials, erroneously finding that he acted wrongfully. The evidence objectively shows that that Tim's obstructive conduct was reasonable and not actionable trespass, as it was in furtherance of a valid easement. Even if a trespass award is proper, the damages amount was in an amount that should shock the conscience of this Court based on the evidence of the effect of any such trespass.

Finally, the District Court erred in not awarding Tim an award of attorney fees, mandated by statute, as the prevailing party in an assault claim against which Paulette asserted the use of force was justified. While it was error not to award these fees, it was also error for the District Court to not even have analyzed the issue.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>The District Court erred in Finding Tim had Permissive use of the</u> <u>Browns Gulch Road, Especially in Disregarding an Unequivocal</u> <u>Judicial Admission of Charles Regarding Tim's Lack of Permission.</u>

The District Court erred in denying Tim's claim to an implied easement by prescription over the segment of the Browns Gulch Road on the Sprague Property, by disregarding a clear and unequivocal admission by Charles that Tim's use of that road segment was not done with permission.

A prescriptive easement is a form of implied easement recognized under Montana law. To establish a prescriptive easement, a plaintiff party must show that the roadway encumbered by the easement has been used in a manner that is open, notorious, exclusive, adverse, continuous and uninterrupted, for a period of five years. *Renner v. Nemitz*, 2001 MT 202, ¶ 19, 306 Mont. 292, 33 P.3d 255.

For any cause of action involving proof of facts, any facts material to a claim can be conclusively admitted for the purpose of litigation under the doctrine of judicial admission:

[T]he following criteria must all be met in order for a statement to constitute a judicial admission:

- 1) There must be a statement made to the court. The statement can be made at any stage of the proceedings. Statements made outside the litigation proceedings are not made to the court, and thus cannot be judicial admissions.
- 2) The statement must be made by a party, or the party's attorney.
- 3) The statement must be a statement of fact, and not a statement of opinion or law.

Bilesky, ¶ 13.

In making its findings of fact and conclusions of law, the District Court ruled against Tim regarding his claim of a prescriptive easement over any part of the segment of the Browns Gulch Road on the Sprague Property. The basis to do so was a finding that Tim's use was permissive, not adverse (failing the fourth element for a prescriptive easement as set forth above). *Renner*, ¶ 19.

The Court's basis in doing so was to look to several statements by Tim during his deposition and at trial regarding permission Charles had given Tim to use "the road." Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 17, p. 14; findings of fact ¶¶ 114-117, p. 29. Conversely, Tim at other times worked to clarify that neither Paulette nor Charles had given him permission to use the roadways for which he sought a prescriptive easement. Tr. Transcr. 389:18-390:4, February 24, 2022.

In finding that Tim had contradicted himself, and that he had conceded that his road usage was permissive, the District Court took some inferential leaps to define the meaning of the terminology "the road" used in examination of Tim. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 117, p. 29. The District Court relied on these findings, that Tim had implied received permission from Charles, to conclude that Tim's use of the Browns Gulch Road over the Sprague Property had been permissive (Dkt. 119, conclusions of law ¶ 36, p. 53), and on that basis the District Court concluded his prescriptive easement over that area failed. Dkt. 119, conclusions of law ¶ 40, p. 54; conclusions of law ¶ 73, p. 60.

Tim now asserts that this was a clear error, both because Tim's deposition testimony was far from clear regarding the status of his permission over the specific area for which he sought a prescriptive easement, but also because the Court had to disregard a clear admission by Charles that Tim "never" had permission to use the roadway for which Tim claimed an easement.

Paulette never granted permission to anyone to use the segment of Browns Gulch Road crossing the Sprague Property, meaning only Charles could have done so. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶ 85, p. 25.

Long before trial, specifically in the context of opposing a motion filed by Tim, Charles filed a sworn statement under oath discussing permissive use of the Browns Gulch Road on the Sprague Property. Dkt. 53. In his declaration Charles confirmed that "Tim Beard has never been given permission to cross my property past the 'first turnoff."² *Id.*, ¶ 10, p. 10.

² That first turnoff was the northmost 90' or so of the Browns Gulch Road, over which Tim has an express granted easement from the Spragues. Dkt. 119, findings of fact \P 5, p. 12; \P 12, p. 13.

Tim's prescriptive easement claim was for an area far larger than that "first turnoff," meaning that Charles' sworn and filed statement should be dispositive of the issue of permissive used over a clamed prescriptive easement. As a sworn statement in dispositive motion practice in this case, it was an abuse of discretion not to view Charles' statement as a conclusive judicial admission. *Bilesky*, ¶ 14.

Tim suggests that the District Court's error in not finding so is especially problematic in light of Tim's susceptibility to confusion due to his head injury. His deposition was a very contentious and confusing event, in which he repeatedly stated that he was confused. Cross examination on the point was no different. Tr. Transcr. 469:3-475:14; 483:5-484:10, February 24, 2022.

Prior to trial, Tim had argued the effect of his deposition confusion in detail, and included all material points of his deposition transcript, in a brief he filed opposing summary judgment by Paulette. Dkt. 64, pp. 4-8 and 12-14. Rather than reiterate those arguments during trial (again recognizing that arguments were not allowed at trial), Tim instead referred the Court only to certain portions of Tim's deposition. Tr. Transcr. 475:15-24, February 24, 2022. Tim then reiterated the argument in his post-trial proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law. Dkt. 116, Ex. A, proposed findings of fact ¶ 32, p. 11 (of that Ex. A); proposed conclusions of law ¶ 54-57, p. 33-34 (of that Ex. A). Per the holding in *Bilesky* regarding a judicial admission potentially occurring at any stage, this acceptably preserved the record of Charles' position on permission, while allowing a bench trial to move past a point of difficulty. *Bilesky*, ¶ 13.

Tim asserts that the District Court made a clear error in inferring permission from statements made by Tim, a confused person with a cognitive disability, while disregarding a clear statement about permission from the person most fit to grant or deny it. Tim therefore respectfully requests that this Court reverse the conclusion that Tim did not prevail on his prescriptive easement claim, and that the matter be reversed and remanded to the District Court for further consideration, as necessary, regarding the effect of Charles' judicial admission.

II. <u>The District Court's Ultimate Permanent Injunction Against Tim is</u> <u>Overbroad and Not Based on the Evidence.</u>

The District Court's ultimate injunction was unreasonably broad, in a manner not well founded in trial evidence, and a more tailored injunction is proper.

A court's ability to issue an injunction is broad, in several circumstances, including where:

pecuniary compensation would not afford adequate relief;
it would be extremely difficult to ascertain the amount of compensation which would afford adequate relief;
the restraint is necessary to prevent a multiplicity of judicial proceedings...
[...]

Mont. Code Ann. § 27-19-102.

As the District Court correctly noted, in issuing an injunction, it acts within

its discretion in issuing an injunction if it meets each of the following standards:

An order granting an injunction must

(1) set forth the reasons for its issuance;

(2) be specific in its terms;

(3) describe in reasonable detail, and not by reference to the complaint or any other document, the act or acts sought to be restrained; and(4) be binding only upon the parties to the action; their officers, agents, employees, and attorneys; and those persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the order by personal service or otherwise.

Guthrie v. Hardy, 2001 MT 122, ¶ 58, 305 Mont. 367, 380, 28 P.3d 467, 476-77. Dkt. 119, conclusions of law ¶ 75, pp. 60-61.

In the context of secondary roadway easement rights the District Court further correctly observed that a dominant tenant with a primary easement right for access has a secondary right "to enter upon the servient estate and make repairs necessary for the reasonable and convenient use of the easement, doing no unnecessary injury to the servient estate," and that "[s]uch secondary easements can be exercised only when necessary and in such a reasonable manner as to needlessly increase the burden upon the servient tenement." *Laden v. Atkeson*, 112 Mont. 302, 306, 116 P2d 881, 884 (1941); Dkt. 119, conclusions of law ¶ 72, pp. 59-60. Tim asserts that a material holding on this point from Guthrie also frames this issue: "the general rule is that the owner of the easement has not only the right but the duty to keep it in repair." *Guthrie*, ¶ 59.

Tim's assertion of error in the District Court's ultimate injunction is relatively minor, calling for a modification to an otherwise acceptable injunction. Reassessment of the specific terms of a permanent injunction is proper, so that Tim can remain available to the owners of the Hopler Property and the Watt Property as they exercise their right to use and repair the Browns Gulch Road. There is no evidence from the owner of the Watt Property one way or another, but Woody Hopler ("Woody"), caretaker of the Hopler Property (Tr. Transcr. 553:4-554:21, February 24, 2022), testified that his family had long relied on Tim to do road maintenance, that they would likely do so in the future, and that he did good work. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 175-182, pp. 38-39.

The District Court's ultimate injunction, in restricting the periods during the year when the owners of the Watt Property or the Hopler Property could utilize Tim's repair work to only a few weeks a year, to June 15 through 25 and October 15 through 25, placed an excessive restriction on their secondary easement rights. Dkt. 119, p. 63. There was no evidence presented to show why the periods were of special significance, and they do not contemplate either the possibility of inclement weather, or of unavailability of Tim. Timing of weather is a particular problem as heavy rains caused the Browns Gulch Road to wash out in 2010, making it unusable for the Hopler family. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 170-171, p. 38. The date restrictions in the District Court's injunction therefore place an unfounded burden on the owners of the Watt Proper and Hopler Property owners, to the degree they wish to continue using Tim's services. While, of course, the Watt and Hopler Property owners might

have someone other than Tim engage in road work, having him do it is very convenient. He is immediately local, experienced in the work, and does the work for minimal or no cost. Dkt. 119, findings of fact ¶¶ 175-182, pp. 38-39.

The District Court's ultimate injunction does not contemplate any practical factors that could affect the practical complications of road work, particularly weather. It also does not contemplate future changes to it, such as if Paulette were to sell her real property. Tim asks that this Court remand the matter to the District Court, for issuance of an injunction that allows more freedom for the owners of the Watt Property and the Hopler Property to meet the standard of having "not only the right but the duty to keep [their easement over the Sprague Property] in repair" if they continue to use Tim's services. *Guthrie*, ¶ 59.

III. <u>The Trial Evidence Does Not Support the Court's Ultimate</u> <u>Conclusions Regarding Trespass Liability, nor Damages as</u> <u>Awarded.</u>

The District Court's findings of fact regarding Tim's trespass liability to Paulette improperly minimized Tim's testimony in favor of other evidence taken under tainted circumstances (and, as the District Court noted, having its own credibility problems), while disregarding the unrebutted evidence regarding Tim's work on other segments of the Browns Gulch Road.

A. <u>The Evidence does not Support a Finding of Trespass Liability.</u>

The evidence presented at trial does not support a finding of trespass liability, as the Court's decision to award liability was closely decided based on a mistake by the District Court, based on a difficult presentation of evidence.

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