## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Case No. DA 22-0257

TIM BEARD,	)
	)
Appellant and	)
Counter Claimant	)
	)
vs.	)
	)
PAULETTE SPRAGUE, in her	)
Individual capacity and on behalf	)
of CHARLES SPRAGUE, Decease.	)
	)
Appellee and Counter	)
Defendant.	)
	)

---

Appeal from the District Court of the First Judicial District of the State of Montana,  
In and For the County of Lewis and Clark, Case No. BDR 2020-49  
The Honorable Judge Michael F. McMahon, Presiding.

\*\*\*\*\*

**APPELLEE'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

\*\*\*\*\*

## APPEARANCES:

Tim Beard  
4440 Browns Gulch Road  
Helena, MT 59602

Respondent/Appellant  
Pro Se

David B. Gallik  
Attorney at Law

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### **PRESCRIPTIVE EASEMENT**

In his brief, page 9, Beard asserts the District Court erred because he made several conflicting statement on the issue of having permission to use the portion of Brown's Gulch Road on Sprague's property. However, this is an acknowledgement of Beard's on the record admission at trial that he had received permission. [TT pages 483-484]

The District Court's finding of Beard's permission to travel over Sprague's property is clearly supported by substantial evidence, his own admission. There is no basis to find the Court misapprehended the effect of the evidence at trial.

### **PERMANENT INJUNCTION**

The portion of Browns Gulch Road over which the injunction against Beard is effective, has not been used since the 2010 fire and resulting erosion. The only basis for the Court allowing Beard any access at all is someday the holders of the express easement, Watt and Hopler, may request Beard repair and maintain the unusable portion of Browns Gulch Road on their property. Watt and Hopler have an alternative route which they have been using to access their property since the 2010 fire.

The terms of the injunction against Beard were supported by substantial evidence and testimony of Hopler and Beard. The District Court cited to factual evidence and testimony to support its finding of sufficient basis for the entry of the injunction against Beard.

#### TRESSPASS BY BEARD

Going onto another's property, without permission and obstructing another's access is a trespass. Beard admitted to creating all four obstructions. [Filing # 119; FOF ¶131] First blockage in early September of 2019; second blockage in mid-September of 2019; third blockage in July of 2020; and. fourth blockage late March and into April 2021. [Filing # 119; FOF ¶193-194]

#### ATTORNEY FEES

Beard's attorney fee argument is solely based upon an assertion in Paulette Sprague's proposed Findings of Fact alleging Beard orchestrated the incident by taunting Charles. (Appellant's Opening Brief page 9, citing Filing #106, p 10)

Paulette Sprague was not present during this mid-litigation incident which led to Beard amend his counterclaim to allege civil assault. Charles Sprague did not have the opportunity to testify about this incident as he died before the hearing on Beard's motion for an order of protection against him. The criminal charges against Charles Sprague were pending at his death, and as a result dismissed.

Sub-section (1) of 27-1-722, MCA, makes it clear it is applicable only “to the person using the force,” which Beard admits, and the District Court found was Charles Sprague. As Charles Sprague made no statement or defenses at all before his death, he could not be found to have asserted the defense of justifiable use of force.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **JUDICIAL ADMISSION RE: PERMISSION TO USE ROAD**

The Declaration of Charles Sprague which Beard is attempting to use to show Charles made a judicial admission that he had never given Beard permission to cross the portion of Brown’s Gulch Road past the first turn-off .. This statement was; “Tim Beard has never been given permission to cross my property past the first turn-off.” Charles Sprague made this statement in opposition to Beard’s partial summary judgment motion for an easement over the 90’ to the first turn-off. [Filing #53, ¶7, 10]

His motion for partial summary judgment states “Beard seeks though this motion to establish his easement rights to the section of road labeled on the attached map as Exhibit A as the ‘First Turnoff’.” [Filing #49, p 2]

The Sprague’s have never disputed Beard had permission to use the first 90’ to the “first turn-off” to access his property. He first had permissive use of this 90’ and now has express easement over it. Beard’s partial summary judgment motion

and Charles Sprague's Declaration in opposition had nothing to do with the road between the first turnoff and second turnoff, over which Beard is asserting a prescriptive easement. [Filing #53, ¶7, 10]

The Court had substantial evidence in the several statements by Beard during his deposition and at trial admitting Charles Sprague had given him permission. [Filing #119, FOF ¶ 17, p. 14; FOF ¶¶ 114-117, p. 29] Tim Beard's trial testimony admitted Sprague had given him permission to use Browns Gulch Road. [TT pages 483-484]

#### PERMANENT INJUNCTION

An injunction is proper where: (1) pecuniary compensation would not afford adequate relief; (2) it would be extremely difficult to ascertain the amount of compensation which would afford adequate relief; (3) the restraint is necessary to prevent a multiplicity of judicial proceedings [...] Mont. Code Ann. § 27-19-102.

In issuing an injunction the District Court acts within its discretion if it meets each of the following standards: An order granting an injunction must (1) set forth the reasons for its issuance; (2) be specific in its terms; (3) describe in reasonable detail, and not by reference to the complaint or any other document, the act or acts sought to be restrained; and (4) be binding only upon the parties to the action; their officers, agents, employees, and attorneys; and those persons in active concert or participation with them who receive actual notice of the order by

personal service or otherwise. Guthrie v. Hardy, 2001 MT 122, ¶ 58, 305 Mont. 367, 380, 28 P.3d 467, 476-77.

The portion of Browns Gulch Road over which the injunction against Beard is effective, has not been used since the 2010 fire and resulting erosion. The only basis for the Court allowing Beard any access at all is the possibility that in the future the holders of the express easement to get to their property, Watt and Hopler, could possibly request Beard repair and maintain the unusable portion of Browns Gulch Road on their property. Watt and Hopler have an alternative route which they have been using to access their property since the 2010 fire. Heavy rains caused Browns Gulch Road to wash out in 2010, making it unusable for the Hopler family. [Filing # 119, FOF ¶ 170-171, p. 38]

## TRESPASS

Trespass is an intentional tort claim for damages caused by an unauthorized entry or holdover upon real property of another. Tags Realty, LLC v. Runkle, 2015 MT 166, ¶ 15, 379 Mont. 416, 352 P.3d 616. The essential elements of a trespass claim are: (1) an intentional entry or holdover; (2) by the defendant or a thing; (3) without consent or legal right. Branstetter v. Beaumont Supper Club, Inc., 224 Mont. 20, 24, 727 P.2d 933, 935 (1986)

Going onto another's property, without permission and obstructing another's access is a trespass. Beard admitted to creating all four obstructions. [Filing # 119,

FOF ¶131] First blockage in early September of 2019; second blockage in mid-September of 2019; third blockage in July of 2020; and, fourth blockage late March and into April 2021. [Filing # 119, FOF ¶193-194]

Beard's actions in blocking this portion of Browns Gulch Road, after the District Court instructed him to not do so, is clear evidence of an intentional act. Beard was convicted of the crime of disorderly conduct for the fourth time he blocked Browns Gulch Road, which once again is substantial evidence of an intentional act.

#### ATTORNEY FEES

Beard's legal contentions in the pretrial order doesn't mention a demand for attorney fees for the prevailing party in a civil assault case when the defendant invokes the defense of for justifiable use of force defense. Rather, he asserts;

“Beard is entitled to his attorney's fees generated in defending and asserting his rights regarding that issue, to access his property through that date, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 27-8-313.”

Beard's legal contention No. 3 in the pretrial order [Filing #98] states:

“Whether Beard is entitled to declaratory judgment stating a prescriptive easement over the Second Turnoff, due to “open, notorious, exclusive, adverse, continuous and uninterrupted use of the easement” for five years. *Renner v. Nemitz*, 2001 MT 202, ¶ 19, 306 Mont. 292, 33 P.3d 255.”

Paulette's proposed FOF 48 which Beard alleges [Appellant's Opening Brief pg. 32] is Paulette invoking justifiable use of force on behalf of her deceased husband, Charles, states:



“The incident leading to the ex parte TOP and the criminal assault charge against Charles Sprague was purposefully orchestrated by Beard, taunting Charles Sprague by yet again trespassing on his property and then lying in wait with a video camera for Charles to drive the short distance down his driveway to where Beard had left a piece of equipment and piles of dirt in the access road to Sprague’s home. Charles Sprague did drive from his house to the blockage where Beard had been waiting. When he observed Charles Sprague drive down to the blockage, Beard focused his video camera on Sprague and drove to his property where he continued to taunt and video tape Mr. Sprague.”

In her proposed FOF 48, Paulette Sprague is providing the Court with her understanding of what happened during this incident between Beard and Charles Sprague. Nowhere in that statement does Paulette Sprague assert use of force by Charles, much less justified use of force. [Filing #119, FOF 48]

Paulette Sprague was not present during the mid-litigation incident which led to Beard amend his counterclaim. Charles Sprague did not have the opportunity to testify on this incident as he died before the hearing on Beard’s motion for an order of protection against him. The criminal charges against Charles Sprague were pending at his death, and as a result dismissed.

The prevailing party in a civil assault action, in which the defendant party to that assault claim asserts that the force was allowable under “Title 45, Chapter 3, Part 1” of the Montana Code Annotated, “is entitled to costs and reasonable attorney fees.” Mont. Code Ann. § 27-1-722(4). However, sub-section (1) of 27-1-722, MCA, makes it clear it is applicable only “to the person using the force.”

Beard admits, and the District Court found was Charles Sprague. As Charles Sprague made no statement or defenses at all before his death, he could not be found to have asserted the defense of justifiable use of force.